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FRONT COVER: Mercedes 0305 Mk.3 no. 2664, 
specially painted in brown and gold for the 50th 
anniversary of N.S.W. Government bus 
services, photographed before entering service. 
- Yorkstar Motors 
BACK COVER TOP: The Manly ferry 
Baragoola, built as a steam ship in 1922 and 
later dieselised, ended its career on the Manly 
run on Saturday 8 January 1983. Vic Solomons 
photographed it crossing the harbour on 
18 January 1982. 
BOTTOM: The Camden Tramway closed 20 
years ago on 1 January 1963 after an eventful 
life of nearly 81 years. Early in this century an 
E class tank loco and three cars approach 
Camden over the new Nepean River bridge-

by Vic Solomons 

Following the success of the initial steam tram­
way service in 1879, extensions were soon under­
taken into the suburbs. By the 1980's an extensive 
tramway network, operated by steam and cable 
traction, had been established. The growth in 
passenger traffic led to the decision to electrify 
the main city and suburban lines, concurrent with 
extensions, from the early 1900's. 

By World War I most of the former steam lines 
had been electrified and the system was nearing 
its peak of expansion. Some new lines and 
extensions were constructed in the 1920's but the 
era of major expansion had passed. 

The return to peace time conditions created 
problems for the tramways; the number of motor 
cars rose steadily and although this did not have 
an immediate impact on tramway passenger 
traffic a pattern began to emerge which would 
ultimately be a contributing factor in the demise 
of the tramway system of the next 30 years. 

Probably of greater concern to the tramway 
authorities at this time was the rapid growth in 
the number of privately owned motor buses which 
began operating, many in direct competition with 
the tramway and railway services with a conse­
quent affect on revenue. By 1927, 525 motor 
buses were operating in the Sydney metropolitan 
traffic district. 

The Lang Government enacted the Transport 
Act in 1930 which separated the railways and 
tramways and empowered the Government to 
regulate the private bus operators. This legislation 
was reinforced in 1931 by the State Transport 
(Co-Ordination) Act which gave the Government 
powers to tax bus operators regarded as being in 
competition with Government transport services. 
Many private operators were unable to pay this 
tax and ceased operation whilst others were 
licensed to operate as feeder services to the rail­
ways or tramways. 

Having put many of the private buses off the 
road the Government then proceeded to intro­
duce its own motor bus services and almost 
immediately began to compete with its own 
tramway services and to a lesser extent with the 
railways. 

The first Government service commenced on 
Christmas Day, 25 December, 1932 between 
Manly Wharf and Cremorne Junction, in compe­
tition with the trams, using single deck buses 
purchased from the White Transit Company 
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50 YEARS OF GOVERNMENT BUS 
SERVICES 1932-1982 

which previously operated this route. Initially the 
service even operated out of the Flat Rock, 
Willoughby depot of this company. This route 
became, and remains, route 144 which has been 
extended to St. Leonards Station. Further Govern­
ment services, initially in the Manly area then in 
the eastern and western suburbs, soon appeared. 
Most were re-instatements of previously operated 
private routes but some still operating bus com­
panies were purchased, the largest being the 
Metropolitan Omnibus Transport Company 
which had a large depot at Burwood which was 
included in the purchase and which subsequently 
became the Government bus workshops for some 
years. It is incorporated into the present Burwood 
Depot. 

The Flat Rock depot was replaced in 1933 by 
one in Mosman, later to be supplemented by and 
eventually replaced by conversion of the Manly 
Tram Depot. Eastern suburbs services initially 
operated from a former private depot at Bondi 
pending opening of a depot at Woolloomooloo in 
1933 which soon proved too small and was re­
placed by Randwick Depot, in part of the tramway 
workshops, in 1939. The western services used 
the Burwood depot. 

Government bus services commenced in New­

castle, as feeders to the Mayfield tramway on 22 
September, 1935 once again using the depot of 
the former private operator. A move was made to 
Hamilton tram depot in 1936. 

Services in Sydney and Newcastle have greatly 
expanded, replacing the tramway services in both 
cities but are generally concentrated in a mainly 
exclusive area up to about 10 miles from the city 
centres. In Sydney this is basically the former 
tramway territory with the Manly services 
extending beyond up the coast to Palm Beach. 
The Newcastle services are confined to the south 
of the Hunter River but have extended south­
west and particularly south to and around Lake 
Macquarie. At the end of 1982 a total of 1,731 
buses were on the books with 208 being allocated 
to Newcastle and the balance, 1523, in Sydney. 

The initial fleet, acquired from private opera­
tors, varied in make and age. Many of the vehicles 
taken over by the Government were not operated 
by it but nevertheless some standardisation and 
updating was required. Orders were placed in the 
United Kingdom for new bus chassis, but the first 
bus built for the Government, m/ol009 was on a 
Leyland TD1 chassis acquired from a private 
operator. The double deck body was locally built 
by Syd Wood and the bus entered service on 22 

Former City and Suburban Bus Co. Fageol, m/o 1083 and Albion double 
decker, m/o 1362 in Eddy Avenue in 1934. -Ken Magor 
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Leyland TD1, m/o 755 of Pope and Mason; this became m/o 1007 
in the Government fleet. -Vic Solomons collection 

December, 1933. It had a composite timber/ metal 
body with a seating capacity of 51. During 1934 
further vehicles were placed in service, being one 
Leyland Lion single decker, 5 Leyland TD3c, 3 
Albion CX19GW, 1 Thornycroft Daring, 1 AEC 
Renown, 3 AEC Q and 8 AEC Regent double 
deckers. More orders for new vehicles were 
placed until the outbreak of World War II pre­
vented further chassis being obtained from the 
United Kingdom. 

The vehicles built between 1933 and 1940 were 
mainly double deckers with single deck AEC, 
Albion, Dennis and Leyland buses being pur­
chased for lightly patronised suburban routes. By 
1937 the majority of the former private buses had 
been sold. 

The Second World War and the consequent 
rationing of petrol for private use saw a dramatic 
increase in the number of passengers using buses 
and trams. To conserve fuel and tyres, many bus 
services were terminated short of city destinations 

and passengers had to change and continue their 
journeys by tram. Wartime conditions gave rise 
to the need for more vehicles to ease the strain on 
the existing fleet and as an emergency measure 45 
Ford truck chassis were obtained and fitted with 
austerity timber framed bodies designed by the 
Federal Land Transport Board. These bodies 
seated 26 on perimeter seating. These vehicles 
entered service in 1943 and as to be expected 
became known as Austerity buses. Ford V8 petrol 
engines were fitted, except in three which had 
Hercules diesel engines. A further 16 chassis 
became available in 1944 and were similarly 
bodied. Also in 1944, two semi-trailer buses 
entered service. A 48 seat trailer was hauled by a 
short wheelbase Ford prime mover powered by a 
Mercury petrol engine. Both these vehicles were 
used in Newcastle, being withdrawn and sold in 
1949. 

With the end of the war in sight, orders were 
placed for new buses to replace aging vehicles 
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PRIVATE BUSES PURCHASED 1932 to 1938 

As at 30 June 1933, 162 buses and 3 chas s i s had been purchased from 
private bus operators. Of these 88 had been registered (not in order of pur­
chase) and the remainder subsequently disposed of. 

The makes and models of these buses varied gretly and comprised: 
Single Deck- AEC Albion Brockway Fageol Reo White 
Double Deck- Ley land TD1 
There were 8 double deckers in al l and al l were put into service as no: 1 
to 8, registered numbers 1008 to 1008. 

During 1937, a further 77 buses were purchased from private operators, 
this time in Newcast le as wel l as Sydney. Most were sold after a short 
time and it is believed that many never operated in Government service 
although regis tered. A further 12 buses were purchased in the 1937/8 
financial year but were soon sold. 

When the Government took over s t i l l operating private serv ices they 
were obliged to purchase vehicles and premises if so requested, hence the 
quick resale of vehicles which were unsuitable or not required. 

V E H I C L E T O T A L S A T 3 0 J U N E 1 9 4 0 

Albion 
AEC 
Dennis 
Ley land 
Thornycroft 
White 

Double Deck 
51 

120 
1 

156 
1 

S ngle Deck 
34 
20 

5 
25 

4 

Total 
85 

140 
6 

181 
1 
4 

329 8S 417 

Ley land RTS8 half cab 
single deck bus, believed 

to be 450 (m/ol650), at 
Leichhardt workshops 

when new in 1938. 
-UTA 
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and to implement the tramway replacement 
programme which had commenced in 1937. The 
first post-war bus, a Leyland OPDl double decker, 
was received from Clyde Engineering on 22 
August, 1946. Further orders were placed for 
AEC, Leyland and Albion chassis from 1947 and 
the last front engined half cab double decker, a 
Leyland OPD2/1, entered service on 4 February, 
1954. 

In an effort to contain rising costs, the Govern­
ment decided to make use of single deck buses 
which could be one man operated. To evaluate 
this type of operation, a single deck petrol engined 
White, fully imported from America in 1948, was 
placed in service on route 318 Rockdale-
Brighton for a three month trial in 1950. Although 
registered m/o2500 in the Government services 
this bus was only on loan from the distributors. 
This vehicle was a standard underfloor engined 
American city bus of the period and although it 
lead to this design being adopted the petrol engine 
did not find favour as the fleet was otherwise all 
diesel by this time. A Leyland OPSU1/1 chassis 
with diesel engine was purchased and fitted with 
a body by Commonwealth Engineering. 
Numbered 2520 it ejitered service in July 1951, 
again on route 318, and became the forerunner of 
the single deck fleet. Orders were initially divided 
between Leyland and AEC. 

The under floor engined single deck buses 
seated 43 and as these were larger than the half 
cab single deckers then operating on lightly 
loaded routes a 31 seat forward control design 
was evolved to replace the half cabs. These buses 
were constructed on AEC, Daimler and Leyland 
single and double deck chassis and eventually 172 
were obtained. 

The tramway replacement programme was 

running concurrently with the replacement of the 
pre-war bus fleet and whilst initially new double 
deck buses were used the 43 seat single deckers 
finished the replacement of both the pre-war buses 
and the trams. 

The need to replace the post-war double deck 
and single deck buses arose in the mid 1960's and 
commencing in 1965,232 Leyland Leopards were 
placed in service, to be followed by a further 
order in 1969 which brought the total for this type 
to 744. Although the policy had been not to 
purchase double deck vehicles, it was decided to 
obtain 200 Leyland Atlantean buses in 1970. A 
further 24 were ordered in 1972. However, 
problems with one man operation resulted in 
these double deckers being withdrawn from 1980 
and only 43 remain in service at Brookvale and 
Mona Vale depots. The 31 seat single deckers 
had all been withdrawn by the end of 1978. 

Except for the wartime austerity buses, all 
vehicles purchased new were of British origin. 
This changed in 1977 when the first of 200 
Mercedes 0305 buses entered service. The intro­
duction of these vehicles represented a number 
of departures from previous practice. All previous 
under floor engined buses, except the White on 
loan, were mid engined vehicles; the Mercedes 
are rear engined. They are also leased, rather 
than purchased outright. Of the 200 ordered, 199 
appeared with what became the Mkl body, the 
remaining one and a further order of 550 have a 
more European styled body and are known as 
Mk2. A further order for 170 has been placed and 
were still being delivered at the end of 1982. 
These have the Mk3 body style which is a varia­
tion of the Mk2. 

A further departure from usual practice oc­
curred in 1978 with the introduction of two 

Leyland OPD2/1 double decker 
2043 of 1948 in Hunter Street 
Newcastle in 1970. 
-Vic Solomons 
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fS! 
Albion Venturer double 
decker 1911 of 1947 as 

running in 1965, showing 
the hand worked front door. 

-D .Fa i r l e s s 

Mercedes 17 seat mini buses on a new express 
service between Chatswood Station and Dee 
Why. This service proved so popular that standard 
single deck buses soon replaced the small vehicles 
which then started another service in the 
Warringah area only once again to be displaced 
and this time sent to Newcastle. 

In order to replace the remaining Atlantean 
double deckers a Mercedes articulated bus was 
acquired for evaluation in 1981. After various 
tribulations it is now in service from Brookvale 
depot and it has been announced that a further 29 
will be acquired. 

At the time of writing, several Leyland Royal 
Tigers of 1957 remain in service as well as some 
from 1959-60, although all the AEC's and some 
Leopards have been withdrawn. These older buses 
are being withdrawn as the new vehicles are 
placed in service. 

In recent years a number of buses have been 
demonstrated to the Government and two arti­

culated vehicles, a MAN and a Volvo operated 
along Pitt and Castlereagh Streets, Sydney as a 
free service on route 417 in 1976. 

There have been a variety of paint schemes 
used over the years. The single deck buses were 
initially black and white and later had a brown 
roof. Double deckers were red and cream with 
brown roof; colour separation was by black 
lines. Following introduction of green and cream 
colours with the new R class tramcars in 1933 
this scheme was gradually extended to the bus 
fleet. Single deck vehicles had a green roof and 
double deck brown. Black separation lines were 
used. During the Second World War over 100 
buses were painted in camouflage for use as 
troop transports if needed. The austerity buses 
were an overall dark green. The post war 31 and 
43 seat single deck buses had a cream roof 
instead of the green applied to the earlier vehicles. 
A light blue and white colour scheme was intro­
duced with Mk2 Leyland Leopard buses in 1969 

AEC 
Albion 
Daimler 
Leyland 

BUS FLEET AS AT 

Double Deck 
359 
143 

343 

845 

30 JUNE 

31 Seat 
68 

20 
84 

172 

1961 

Vnderfloor 
357 

381 

738 

Total 
784 
143 

20 
808 

1755 
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AEC Regal 4, 2806, of 1954 is representative of the first series of underjloor engined single deckers. 

and has also been applied to the Atlanteans and 
gradually to older vehicles as they have been 
overhauled. At the end of 1982 only two buses 
remained in service in green and cream. A variant 
of the blue and white scheme is used on the Mk 1 
Mercedes with the later versions of this make 
being in a two tone blue and white as are the two 
mini buses. A red and white version of this latter 
scheme is applied to Mk2 Mercedes 2265, which 
is the 500th vehicle of this make delivered to the 
Government. The buses used on the Sydney 
Explorer service, introduced in 1980, are an 
overall red and those used on the Airport Express 
service, introduced in 1982, blue and yellow. 
Mercedes 2664 is in a brown and gold 50th 
anniversary colour scheme. Special colour 
schemes and all-over advertising have been used 
on occasions. 

Registralion and fleet numbers of the Govern­
ment fleet now coincide and an effort has always 
been made to keep some relationship between 
the two. Originally, from 1 to 100 the registrations 
were 1000 higher; from 101 to 650 they were 
1200 higher. From 651 the registrations reverted 
to 1000 higher and the other registrations were 
adjusted down accordingly. In 1948, 1000 was 
added to the fleet number which then coincided 
with the registration number. Numbers were 
reused with delivery of the Atlanteans in 1970 
which took 1001 to 1224; the two mini buses sub­

sequently became 1225 and 1226. The Mk2 
Leopards reached 3999 in 1973 and then reverted 
to 1500 and up. Present orders will go to 2715. 

The original Government tramway operator 
w,as the Government Railways although the trams 
operated under the name New South Wales 
Government Tramways. Control was removed 
from the Railways on 5 August, 1930 when the 
Metropolitan Transport Trust and the Newcastle 
and District Transport Trust were established. 
Control of all transport was unified on 1 April, 
1932 under the New South Wales Transport 
Department. With a change of Government the 
various functions were separated as from 14 
February, 1933 with the Department of Road 
Transport and Tramways being formed to operate 
the Government trams and buses and to control 
motor vehicle registration and licencing. As from 
27 October, 1952 the registration and licencing 
functions were formed into a new department 
and the Government services renamed Depart­
ment of Government Tramways and Omnibus 
Services; this was later simplified to Department 
of Government Transport. Re-amalgamation with 
the Railways produced the Public Transport 
Commission on 20 October, 1972 only to be split 
once again as from 1 July, 1980 to become the 
Urban Transport Authority which operates the 
Government bus and ferry services and is 
responsible for the co-ordination of passenger 
services. 
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